COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-WC-01536-COA	
KENNETH MIXON	APPELLANT/ CROSS-APPELLEE
VS.	
GREYWOLF DRILLING COMPANY, LP &	APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLEE
EMPLOYERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF WAUSAU/ LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY	APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLEE
On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Simpson County,	, Mississippi
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	-

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Patricia Eve Gable, Esq. BRYAN NELSON P.A. P.O. Box 18019 Hattiesburg, MS 39404-8109 Tel: 601-261-4100 Fax: 601-261-4106

Attorney for Appellant/ Cross Appellee KENNETH MIXON

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-WC-01536-COA

KENNETH MIXON

APPELLANT/ CROSS-APPELLEE

VS.

GREYWOLF DRILLING COMPANY

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court (affirming the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission) erred in the amount of its award of compensation benefits to claimant, Mixon, particularly including but not necessarily limited to the finding that Mixon sustained only a 25% loss of use of each arm as a result of his work related injury (ies), and whether Mixon's injuries entitle him to permanent total disability benefits under the Act, per Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-17 (c) (1) and (22) and Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-17 (a) of the Act for total occupational loss of both arms and/or in the alternative, an industrial loss of use greater than the 25% loss of use to each arm, as awarded.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court (affirming the Full Commission) erred in the amount of its determination of Mixon's average weekly at the time of injury, and more particularly, was there error in the inclusion of weeks that Mixon did not actually work in the divisor of weeks used to calculate Mixon's average weekly wage at the time of injury.
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court (and Full Commission) Order(s) as to (permanent) benefits awarded and calculation of average weekly wage were supported by substantial evidence, or contrary to substantial and/or undisputed evidence and/or the overwhelming weight of the evidence, based on erroneous application of the law, and/or arbitrary and capricious in result.
- 4. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company should be added as an additional Party, in conjuction with Employers Insurance Company of Wausau.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal of a workers' compensation case originating before the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, and coming to this court from the Circuit Court of Simpson County Mississippi.

Kenneth Mixon, Claimant in the matter before the Commission and appellant here, was originally found by the Administrative Judge of the Commission to have sustained compensable injuries to both of his shoulders/ upper extremities and to his heart and found entitled to receive medical benefits, temporary total and temporary partial disability benefits, and permanent partial disability benefits for 70% loss of use of each of his upper extremities (280 weeks of permanent disability compensation) plus a 10% penalty for any untimely paid installments. [R. Vo. I pg. 149, Vo. II, pg. 151, R.E. Tab 4] On appeal by the Employer and Carrier, the Full Commission affirmed the Administrative Judge's finding of compensability for the accident/ injuries received and the entitlement to medical, temporary total (June 4, 2001--August 2002 when he began working for USM) and temporary partial disability benefits (August 2002 - August 23, 2004), and penalty, but reduced the award of permanent partial disability benefits to 25% loss of use of each arm (100 weeks total), cut in half the amount of the average weekly wage found by the Administrative Judge, and amended the rate of temporary partial disability benefits in accord with its reduction in average weekly wage effective at the time of injury. The Full Commission also awarded interest at the legal rate to all installments not timely paid. [Vo. II pg. 183, R.E. Tab 3] The Order of the Full Commission was appealed by Mixon to the Circuit Court of Simpson County (and cross-appealed by employer and carrier) where it was affirmed (without briefing or argument) on August 28, 2009. [R.E. Tab 2]

Mixon has now appealed to this Court in an effort to correct what he considers the mistakes made in the determination of the correct award for the injuries he received.

Mixon asks this Court to reverse and amend/render that part of the Circuit Court's Order (and Commission's Order) regarding the amount of (permanent) disability benefits awarded and amount of applicable average weekly wage (and by implication the rate for payment of temporary partial disability benefits, if found applicable), and seeks that this Court award to him 100% loss of industrial use of each of his arms which, per Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-17 (c) (1) and (22) ["Total loss of use: Compensation for permanent total loss of use of a member shall be the same as for loss of the member" and § 71-3-17 (a) [71-3-17 (a): "Loss of both hands, or both arms, or both feet, or both legs, or both eyes, or any two (2) thereof shall constitute permanent total disability."] of the Act should result in 450 weeks of compensation for the bilateral upper extremity injuries received; or alternatively, only, reassess his entitlement to permanent partial disability benefits to restore to him at least that awarded by the Administrative Judge i.e. 70% loss of industrial use of each arm (if not more). Mixon also asks that this Court reinstate the average weekly wage determined by the Administrative Judge, along with affirmance of compensability for the accident/injuries sustained, penalty on untimely payment of benefits, interest at the legal rate, as awarded by the Full Commission, and if less than an award of 450 weeks of compensation per § 71-3-17 (a), then also reaffirm also that part of the Commission's award regarding temporary total and temporary partial disability benefits (with applicable adjustment to the correct weekly rate for payment, per increased average weekly wage) in addition to any permanent partial disability benefits awarded.

B. FACTS OF THE CASE

Mixon was employed with Greywolf Drilling, LP as a floorheand when on June 4, 2001, and 5 ½ days into a 7 day hitch on a land rig in Simpson County, MS, he was struck by lightening during a rigging down ("nipping down") procedure in a violent and thunderous rain and lightening storm and from which he received multiple injuries, including torn labrums on both his right and left shoulders, rotator cuff injury on one shoulder, and an electrical injury to his heart. (R. Transcript page 19, 23/ Exhibits CL-12, 13, 14), (Exhibit CL-1 pg. 11) The labrum is a soft tissue or cartilage rim around the socket of the shoulder that helps stabilize the shoulder. Mixon sustained 2 separate tears of the labrums, one on the top of each shoulder. In addition to the torn labrums on both his shoulders (most probably due to bilateral dislocation of the shoulders from severe muscle contractions caused by the electrical current), Mixon also sustained some temporary vision problems and electrical injury to his heart.

Greywolf was aware of the injury at the time. Greywolf's toolpusher took Mixon to the Simpson County Hospital where he arrived within an hour after the injury (R. Transcript page 28) and was diagnosed with having sustained a lightening strike injury (the shoulder and heart injuries had not been specifically diagnosed at that time) and hospitalized overnight. He was discharged the following day (June 5th) with instructions initially to stay off work for at least another 7 days and not to return to work until cleared to return to work by a physician, but on the urging of Greywolf's "safety man" and his assurances that Mixon would not work for at least another week, the treating doctor, Dr. Kelli Smith, agreed to release Mixon to light duty with the understanding that Mixon would indeed not be placed back to work for at least a week and not before being examined further by her or another physician for actual release to return to work following the expiration of the week's rest. (R. Exhibit CL-1 pgs. 11-18) Contrary to his

assurances to Dr. Smith, the "safety man" for Greywolf took Mixon from the hospital back to the rig and Mixon was placed back to work cleaning crew trailers for the several hours remaining on his 7 day hitch. (R. Transcript page 27-31) Mixon was off schedule for the following week. When Mixon did not report back to work the week after his scheduled "off" week, Greywolf terminated his employment on June 13, 2001, effective June 5, 2001, for failure to return to work and failure to call (and with it his employer based group medical insurance) and refused to provide him any medical or weekly disability benefits thereafter, under workers' compensation or otherwise. (R. Transcript pg. 17,18) (R. Exhibit CL-9) Mixon testified that he had indeed called the rig toolpusher on duty that week to report his subsequent medical treatment related to the injury and his inability to return to work as scheduled, as was the hospital calling Greywolf for approval of medical treatment. (R. Transcript pg. 87)

Following hospital discharge on June 5th, Mixon awoke on June 6, 2001 with unrelenting pain in his right shoulder and sought medical treatment locally from Immediate Care in Hattiesburg, where he was referred by Dr. Lisa Bushardt to Dr. William Morrison, orthopedic surgeon, for his orthopedic complaints (shoulder) and to an internal medicine doctor for further more comprehensive follow-up of the lightening strike event (a doctor he was never able to see due to lack of personal funds and Greywolf's refusal to approve this or other medical treatment). Mixon began seeing Dr. Morrison on June 11, 2001 for his shoulder complaints (R. Transcript pages 31-33) and sought emergency care from Forrest General Hospital on June 14, 2001 for irregular heart rhythm (R. Transcript pg.35), following which he came under the care of a heart specialist, Dr. Robert Wilkens, for his heart problem. (R. Transcript p.35) Dr. Morrison placed Mixon again "off work" as of June 11, 2001. As Mixon did not receive weekly disability benefits nor medical from Greywolf, and had no income and little money of his own at the time,

Mixon struggled for some extended time to obtain medical treatment necessary to treat the injuries received and return to some type of gainful employment. (R. Transcript pg. 40)

Mixon ultimately had three (3) shoulder surgeries (two (2) by Dr. William Morrison (i.e. one on each shoulder) and one (1) by Dr. Raymond Whitehead (a second surgery to the right shoulder), following which he was released by Dr. Whitehead on August 23, 2004 as having reached maximum medical improvement. (R. Exhibit CL-4 pg. 19-23)

Dr. Whitehead assessed Mixon with a 6% permanent medical impairment to his right upper extremity secondary to the right shoulder injury, and restricted him among other things from lifting more than 10-25 pounds frequently, 20-50 pounds occasionally, one-handed carrying of more than 25 pounds with his right or left hand, and overhead work and/or overhead lifting. Dr. Morrison assessed a like 6% permanent medical impairment to Mixon's left shoulder with work restrictions limited to medium duty work (similar to that of Dr. Whitehead's restrictions). No permanent medical impairment was assessed for the injury to his heart, which ultimately resolved. Per Dr. Morrison:

"His work restrictions to the left shoulder would be essentially the same as it would be to the right shoulder. That is, overhead work is what he's going to have difficulty doing. Anything --- of course, any overhead work at all, he will find it difficult to do. He had a good biceps and triceps. So using his forearms, wrists and hands would not be impaired. But anything away from the side of the body would be difficult for him to do. Anytime you have to put the shoulder into use is where he would have difficulty. And, especially trying to do anything overhead."

(R. Exhibit CL-2 pg.26). (emphasis added)

Dr. Whitehead further agreed that the restrictions placed on Mixon would make it impossible for Mixon to return to his former job as a floorhand on oil rigs and would prevent him from employments that were classified as either very heavy labor or heavy labor. (R. Exhibit CL-4, pg. 27).

At the time of the hearing, Mixon was 50 years old with a high school education and one semester of junior college. He served four years in the Air Force as an air craft mechanic on fighter jets. (R. Transcript pg. 8-10,12-17, 48-54) Upon discharge from the Air Force, he worked briefly as a security guard, bank teller, and delivery driver for a beer distributor where he had to also load and unload heavy shipments of beer, and then moved on to work in the oilfield on the Northslope of Alaska. Thereafter, Mixon worked as a heavy manual laborer as an oilfield worker, landscaper/groundskeeper, construction worker, tree cutter, roofer, water well driller, and deck hand on charter fishing boats during season, and for offshore crew ships transporting oilfield crews to rigs off coast. In his oilfield work, he had extensive work as a floorhand, and as a motor man and derrick man on both off-shore and land oil rigs. Prior to his employment with Greywolf at the time of injury, he had also been employed with Greywolf once before.

At the time of injury, his job with Greywolf required him, among other things, to lift and carry 50-90 pound bags of mud, operate heavy tongs to break apart pipe, and push 30 foot long joints of pipe continuously for twelve hours a day. His job also required climbing and overhead work. He worked a total of twelve hours a day, seven days on and seven days off. (R. Transcript pgs 8-12) He stayed on site at the rig in his "off" hours of duty in a trailer provided by the employer. His floorhand position with Greywolf also required swinging 12-20 pound sledgehammers overhead, and some tasks requiring repetitive overhead work. The physical requirements of Mixon's job as a floorhand are attached as Exhibit #2 to Dr. Whitehead's deposition (R. Exhibit CL-4). Per the Employer's First Report of Injury (R. Exhibit CL-12), Greywolf reported Mixon's hourly rate at the time of injury as \$12.00 per hour (\$13.00 per hour in his personnel records R. Exh. CL-9), but with overtime, Mixon's weekly wage from Greywolf for the weeks he actually worked was, with one weekly exception, \$1,290.00 per week. (R.

Exhibit CL-10). Mixon was not subject to call by Greywolf on his "off" weeks. He could have accepted work with another employer during his "off" weeks as he had no responsibilities with Greywolf during those weeks. (R. Transcript pg. 6, 7)

Following his injury at Greywolf, and while still under medical treatment, Mixon sought some kind of return to work as he was financially destitute. (R. Transcript pg. 39) In September 2001, he had a job reading meters for 3 days, worked a few days as a cashier for a local grocery store- but had to quit because he could not physically lift a one-liter Coke bottle, and ultimately in August 2002, began working as a part time deckhand earning \$6.50 per hour on the Tommy Monroe, a research vessel owned by the University of Southern Mississippi that is docked out of the USM Gulf Coast Research Center in Biloxi. (R. Transcript pg 40-43) The Tommy Monroe is a 97 by 25 foot vessel used for scientific research in the Gulf of Mexico. Unlike regular deckhand (and any of Mixon's previous deckhand jobs) jobs, this job was essentially a supervisory job requiring expertise, not muscle. The nets and anchors are operated by automated wenches. Mixon operates them by pushing buttons to activate the automatic wenches, not by his physical labor, and he is allowed to delegate physical tasks to others available on the ship. His primary value to the employer is his knowledge of the boat. Although he started in a part-time position, he was able to move to a full-time position upon the death of another crew member that held that full-time position, in July 2004, at which time he was hired in a full time position at \$8.00 per hour (for 40 hours), which increased to approximately \$8.50 per hour in August 2005. Mixon testified that he lucked in to a unique job and has worked really hard to keep it as his value on the open labor market to another employer would be a fraction of his current salary, as he is unable to perform any of his past jobs under his current medical restrictions. He testified that he makes less money in his job with USM than he did seven years before as a floorhand with

Greywolf and were he to still be able to work in that job, he estimated that he would make \$20,000.00 more a year than he currently earns, a job in which he has to work twice as many weeks a year as his job with Greywolf. (R. Transcript pg. 44, 45) Greywolf offered no contradictory testimony nor offered any evidence of what a floorhand in Mixon's former position would make as of the date of the hearing. Mixon also has to work overtime hours in excess of the restrictions recommended by his doctors for a 40 hour week. (R. Transcript pg. 42, 47) He also sustained a further injury to his left shoulder in rough seas on the job with USM in the fall of 2006 from which he has had to have a fourth shoulder surgery, and that claim is being denied as compensable by USM, their position being that it is the result of his June 2001 injury with Greywolf. However, even before the subsequent injury in 2006, Mixon occasionally took pain medication. (R. Transcript pg. 42, 46)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The issues raised by the appellant i.e. amount of appropriate compensation and amount of correct average weekly wage should be considered by this Court de novo, there being no controverted facts in regard thereto. The Commission and Circuit Court erred and misapprehended and mis-applied the applicable law to the undisputed facts of the correct amount of disability to be awarded and the correct average weekly wage. Compensability of the claim was correctly resolved in Mixon's favor. Mixon sustained two (2) scheduled member injuries i.e. injuries to his upper extremities/ arms from which the Full Commission found he was entitled to medical benefits and disability benefits therefore. The Commission further found that Mixon had proved an entitlement to occupational loss in excess of his medical impairment ratings given by his physicians. Where the Commission erred was in failing to apply the correct test to the undisputed facts of the extent of disability (and average weekly wage), and in finding that Mixon's loss was less than total because he was still able to work in a job that requires use of his arms to some degree. The undisputed facts showed that Mixon was unable, due to his injuries, to return to the job he held at the time of injury and additionally unable to return to the substantial acts of his usual employment which was very heavy and heavy manual labor. Further, the undisputed facts proved that Mixon was unable, due to his injuries, to earn the same wages after the injury as he was earning at the time of injury. Per Meridian Baseball, infra, this entitles him to 100% loss of industrial use of each of his injured arms i.e. maximum scheduled benefits, and further, by statute (Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-17 (a)) permanent total disability benefits (450 weeks of benefits altogether) regardless of whether he can still work in some capacity with another employer in a different, more

physically limited, kind of work and for a lesser wage. As an alternative argument, only, Mixon asks that this Court reassess his permanent disability award to at least the 70% occupational loss of use of each arm awarded by the Administrative Judge, if not finding more than that to be appropriate, and in this alternative, also note adjustment of the rate of his temporary partial disability award in light of recalculation of his average weekly wage as requested of \$1,290.00.

- 2. The Circuit Court and Full Commission erred as a matter of law when they calculated Mixon's average weekly wage at the time of injury using as a divisor of his gross wages weeks that he did not actually work for Greywolf. This is an inaccurate calculation and mis-application of the statute (Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-31) and controlling law. Per Dependants of Harris v. Suggs, infra, weeks in which Mixon did not work should be deducted. Mixon asks this court to reinstate the average weekly wage found by the Administrative Judge, i.e. \$1,290.00 per week.
- 3. The Order of the Circuit Court should be reversed as to the amount of the award and the amount of benefits awarded for Mixon's injury changed to 450 weeks at the maximum weekly rate effective at the time of injury, i.e. from June 4, 2001 at the rate of \$316.46 per week, plus all related medical benefits, penalties, and interest, or in the alternative only, the Order of the Administrative Judge reinstated, if not permanent disability benefits increased to an amount in excess of the 70% permanent disability benefits to each arm as assessed therein. In that alternative, interest at the legal rate should also be added to the award for all installments not timely paid, in addition to the 10% penalty per Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-37 (5).

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