IN THE COURT OF APPEALS IN THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KENNETH JOE MIXON

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

VERSUS

GREY WOLF DRILLING COMPANY AND EMPLOYER AND CARRIER BRIDGEFIELD CASUALTY INSURANCE CO. APPELLEES/CROSS APPELLANTS

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Simpson County, Mississippi; The Honorable Robert G. Evans, Circuit Judge, in Kenneth Joe Mixon, Claimant vs. Grey Wolf Drilling Company and Bridgefield Casualty Insurance Company, Employer/Carrier, Docket No. 2009-243 and MWCC Case No.: 0109745-H-2026

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES/CROSS APPELLANTS, GREY WOLF DRILLING COMPANY AND BRIDGEFIELD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, EMPLOYER AND CARRIER

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT			
STANDARD OF REVIEW			
ARGUMENT:			
I.	The Commission's Determination That Claimant Suffered a Compensable Injury		
	Was Not Supported By Substantial Medical Evidence6		
II.	The Commission Did Not Commit Error In Calculating The Claimant's Average		
	Weekly Wage16		
III.	The Commission's Determination That Claimant Suffered a Twenty-Five Percent		
	(25%) Industrial Loss of Use of His Upper Extremities is Supported By Substantial		
	Evidence		
CONCLUSION			
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASE LAW

Atlas Roll-Lite Door Corp. v. Ener, 741 So.2d 343, 346 (Miss. 1999)
Barber Seafood, Inc. v. Smith, 911 So.2d 454, 461 (Miss. 2005)
Breland & Whitten v. Breland, 139 So.2d 365 (Miss. 1962)
Burnley Shirt Corp. v. Simmons, 204 So.2d 451, 454 (Miss.1967))
Chestnut v. Dairy Fresh Corp., 966 So.2d 868, 870 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision and Travelers Cas. and Sur. Co., 856 So.2d 503,
511 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
J.R. Logging v. Halford, 765 So.2d 580, 583 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)
Lott v. Hudspeth Center, 2007 - CT -01525 - SCT (Miss. 2010)
McCarty Farms, Inc. v. Banks, 773 So.2d 380, 387 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) 5, 6
McDonald v. I.C. Isaacs Newton Co., 879 So.2d 486 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
McGowan v. Orleans Furniture Co., 586 So.2d 166 -168 (Miss.1991)
Meridian Professional Baseball Club v. Jensen, 828 So.2d 740, 747 (Miss. 2002) 19, 20, 21
Southern Brick & Tile Co. v. Clark, 247 So.2d 692 (Miss. 1971)11
Sullivan v. City of Okolona, 370 So.2d 921, 924 (Miss. 1979)
Taylor v. First Chemical, 19 So.3d 160, 163 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)
Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc., 641 So.2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994)
Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 853 So.2d 776, 779 (2003)
STATUTES
Mississippi Code Annotated § 71-3-31(1972)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE COMMISSION'S DETERMINATION THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED A COMPENSABLE INJURY WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL MEDICAL EVIDENCE.
- II. THE COMMISSION DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN CALCULATING THE CLAIMANT'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE.
- III. THE COMMISSION 'S DETERMINATION THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED A TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT INDUSTRIAL LOSS OF USE OF HIS UPPER EXTREMITIES IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is a workers' compensation case that was initially heard before Administrative Law Judge Denise Turner Lott on March 14, 2008, in Jackson, Mississippi. Following the hearing and upon consideration of the evidence, Judge Lott issues an Order on May 30, 2008, which found that Claimant/Appellant had suffered a compensable injury in the course and scope of his employement with Grey Wolf Drilling Company on June 4, 2001. Additionally, Judge Lott determined that Claimant's average weekly wage at the time of the injury was \$1290.00, and that Claimant suffered a seventy-percent (70%) occupational loss of use of his upper extremities as the result of the injury.

From this ruling, the Employer and Carrier appealed to the Full Commission. The Full Commission entered an Order on May 26, 2009, affirming in part and reversing in part the Order of the Administrative Judge. The Commission upheld the Administrative Judge's determination that Claimant suffered a compensable injury on June 4, 2001. However, the Commission reversed the Administrative Judge's determination of Claimant's average weekly wage and occupational impairment to Claimant's upper extremities. The Commission determined that Claimant's correct average weekly wage was \$607.88, and found that Claimant suffered only a twenty-five percent (25%) occupational loss of use of his upper extremities.

From the Commission, the Claimant/Appellant appealed to the Circuit Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, to which the Employer and Carrier/Appellees filed a cross-appeal. Circuit Court Judge Robert G. Evans entered an Order affirming the Commission's decision on August 29, 2009.

From this decision, the Claimant/Appellant appealed to this Court, to which the Employer

and Carrier/Appellees filed a cross-appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant alleged a work injury occurring on June 4, 2001, when he received an electrical shock injury due to a lightning strike. At the time of the alleged injury, Claimant was employed with Grey Wolf Drilling, which required him to work on a land-based oil rig. On the day of his alleged injury, Claimant stated that he was working on the rig attempting to loosen nuts and bolts. (Tr. at page 24). At that time, a storm came up and Claimant alleged that lightning struck the rig and ran through him (Tr. at page 27).

As a result of this incident, Claimant was taken to the emergency room at Magee Hospital where he was treated by Dr. Kelli Smith. (Ex. 1). Claimant was later treated at Hattiesburg Clinic by Dr. William Morrison (Ex. 2) and Dr. Andrew Whitehead (Ex. 4). Claimant was also seen at Hattiesburg Clinic by Dr. Robert Wilkins for heart palpitations. (Ex. 3). During this treatment, Claimant underwent left shoulder surgery performed by Dr. Morrison in December of 2001. (Ex. 3) Dr. Morrison later performed surgery on Claimant's right shoulder in February of 2002. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, Dr. Morrison left Hattiesburg Clinic, and Claimant was referred to Dr. Raymond Whitehead for his future treatment needs. In January of 2003, Dr. Whitehead performed a second surgery on Claimant's right shoulder. (Ex. 4). Dr. Whitehead eventually placed Claimant at maximum medical improvement on August 23, 2004. *Id.*

At the present, Claimant is employed by the University of Southern Mississippi aboard a research vessel named *The Tommy Monroe*. (Tr. pg. 41) Claimant described this as a ninety-seven foot research vessel used by the students and professors/scientists employed with the University, as well as Stennis Space Center. *Id.* Claimant testified that he has held this job since

he began working part-time as a dock hand in August of 2002. (Tr. at page 24).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is clear from the facts and evidence of record that the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission erred in determining that Claimant's shoulder injuries were causally related to the lightning incident which allegedly occurred on June 4, 2001. Of the four physicians that testified in this matter, two concluded that a lighting strike was simply incapable of producing the Claimant's shoulder injuries. Furthermore, the two physicians that testified in Claimant's favor based their causal opinions upon speculation and theory rather than medical probabilities. Additionally, neither physician's description of the mechanism of injury comported with Claimant's description of the actual incident. Based upon the foregoing, the credible medical evidence clearly preponderates in the favor of no causal connection. Therefore, the Commission's determination to the contrary is not supported by substantial evidence.

While the Commission erred in finding that Claimant suffered a compensable injury, they correctly determined Claimant's average weekly wage. The Administrative Judge in this matter incorrectly failed to consider Claimant's "down time" in the calculation of his pay period, and thus Claimant's average weekly wage was grossly overinflated. The Commission correctly found that Claimant's pay period should include "on," as well as "off" time, and their decision is supported by substantial evidence.

Finally, should this Court affirm the Commission's decision that Claimant suffered a compensable injury to his shoulders as a result of the alleged lightning incident, the Commission's findings regarding Claimant's occupational loss of use of his upper extremities should also be affirmed. The Administrative Judge failed to correctly determine Claimant's "usual

employement" as the term is defined by the applicable case law, and therefore the Judge's finding that Claimant suffered a seventy-percent (70%) industrial loss of use was in error. The Commission considered Claimant's employment history and current wage-earning capacity in holding that he suffered only a twenty-five percent (25%) occupational loss of use, and their finding was supported by substantial evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is afforded great deference, and its findings may not be overturned on appeal if they are supported by substantial credible evidence. *Atlas Roll-Lite Door Corp. v. Ener*, 741 So.2d 343, 346 (Miss.1999). A Commission decision that is supported by substantial evidence may not be set aside even if the reviewing court would have reached the opposite conclusion. *Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc.*, 641 So.2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994). In short, the Commission's decision may be reversed only if it is found to be clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Chestnut v. Dairy Fresh Corp.*, 966 So.2d 868, 870 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(quoting *Barber Seafood, Inc. v. Smith*, 911 So.2d 454, 461 (Miss. 2005)). The Mississippi Court of Appeals has described "clearly erroneous" as follows:

"[W]hen, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the [Workers' Compensation] Act."

Taylor v. First Chemical, 19 So.3d 160, 163 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting J.R. Logging v.

Halford, 765 So.2d 580, 583 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)). Accordingly, as long as the record contains credible evidence which, if believed, would support the Commission's determination, the decision must be affirmed. *McCarty Farms, Inc. v. Banks*, 773 So.2d 380, 387 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

I. THE COMMISSION'S DETERMINATION THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED A COMPENSABLE INJURY WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL MEDICAL EVIDENCE.

Claimant was diagnosed with rotator cuff damage to both shoulders, and ultimately underwent two surgeries to his right shoulder and another to his left shoulder. The Administrative Judge concluded, and the Commission confirmed, that substantial evidence supported the existence of a causal connection between Claimant's shoulder injuries and his alleged electrical shock incident at work. However, the overwhelming evidence presented in this case does not support that conclusion.

It is undisputed that Claimant was working in the course and scope of his duties for the Employer on June 4, 2001. At the time, Claimant was employed as a "floorhand" and was in the process of removing nuts from threaded bolts on a land-based oil rig, when a thunderstorm blew over. (Tr. pg. 27). Claimant stated that "all of a sudden, it's like I could hear the crack and I just felt it just run right through both my hands, right through my chest. I felt the electricity." *Id.* Claimant stated that it drove him back, and he began stepping backwards immediately to get away from the rig. (Tr. pg. 27-28). When asked to describe his positioning and reaction to the alleged lightning strike, Claimant explained that at the time he was bending over and the shock caused him to be "jolted up." However, Claimant clarified that he was not violently "thrown up" and he did not fall. (Tr. pg. 61). Furthermore, Claimant indicated that he immediately let go of

the rig the moment he felt the electricity. (Tr. pg. 62).

Claimant stated that he continued to experience pain and tightness in his chest, so he was driven to the ER at Magee General Hospital. Upon admittance, Claimant explained to Dr. Kelli Smith that he was standing near a body of water when he felt the lighting strike and rise up through his feet to his waist. (Exhibit CL-1, pg. 19). Claimant did not indicate that he was "thrown" by the electricity. *Id.* Dr. Smith released Claimant from Magee General Hospital with no findings of any damage to Claimant's shoulders. (Exhibit CL-1).

Based upon Claimant's history of the incident, the medical findings, and minor degree of Claimant's injuries, Dr. Smith testified that it was her belief that Claimant suffered an indirect lightning strike, and the electricity he received traveled through a surrounding conductor before affecting him. (Exhibit CL-1, pg. 22). Dr. Smith opined that any such occurrence would have yielded a low-voltage shock. *Id.* Dr. Smith specifically noted that an analysis of Claimant's isoenzymes confirmed that Claimant received a low dose of electricity, if any at all. Specifically, Dr. Smith noted that Claimant's BUN and CPK numbers were too low to indicate that Claimant absorbed a strong electrical charge. *Id.* Dr. Smith further noted that Claimant's EKG results did not indicate that Claimant had suffered an injury due to lighting strike (Exhibit CL-1, pg. 22-23).

Dr. Smith testified that it would be unusual for a lighting strike to cause a torn tendon or muscle. (Exhibit CL-1, pg. 33). Dr. Smith noted that it would require an extremely high voltage charge for electricity to successfully tear a rotator cuff. (Exhibit CL-1, pg. 23). Dr. Smith specifically testified that it would have been practically impossible for Claimant to have suffered a torn rotator cuff from the comparatively low electrical charge that entered his

body. Id.

In finding that Claimant's shoulder injury was causally related to the alleged lightning strike, the Administrative Judge specifically noted that Dr. Smith had only performed an isoenzymes analysis one time, and commented that a subsequent examination may have revealed higher CPK levels. However, the Administrative Judge completely failed to consider Dr. Smiths's testimony that, in her medical opinion, it was impossible for an indirect lightning strike to have torn a rotator cuff! Furthermore, the simple fact that Dr. Smith cannot rule out that Claimant suffered a rotator cuff injury due to a lightning strike does nothing to bolster the issue of causation. Rather, it is the Claimant's burden to put forth evidence of causation by a preponderance of the evidence, and his own treating physician opined that there was practically zero medical probability that Claimant suffered an injury to his shoulder in the manner alleged.

In the days following his release from Magee General Hospital, Claimant began to experience problems with his right shoulder. Thereafter, on June 11, 2001, Claimant reported to the Hattiesburg Clinic for right shoulder pain and was examined by Dr. William Morrison. (Exhibit CL-2, pg. 6). In reviewing the Claimant's history, Dr. Morrison testified that it was his understanding that Claimant was "thrown" by the force of the electrical charge. *Id.* In fact, Dr. Morrison explicitly stated that he did not believe it to be significant whether Claimant suffered a direct or indirect lighting strike, because it was his opinion that Claimant's reaction to the charge caused the injury at issue. Specifically, Dr. Morrison testified as follows:

My feeling was at the time that he had this violent - you know, as the witnesses testify, it was "as if he was shot out of a cannon," that he had some very forceful muscular contraction and positioning of his shoulders during this episode that caused it. . . . [T]he mechanism of the way he described to me would be certainly

consistent with the injuries that I saw to his shoulders . . . As I envisioned this, he was thrown. He was kneeling forward when this occurred and that he was thrown back. I presume just from this description and from what he said people told him, that his arms would have been thrown backwards and that's certainly a way that he could have injured the labrum of his shoulders by that mechanism.

(Exhibit CL-1, pg. 29).

The above testimony is very significant, in that it completely contradicts the Claimant's own personal account of the accident. Firstly, Claimant's account that a witness described him as "shot out of a cannon," was not testified to under oath at the hearing. In fact, Claimant's only recollection of any conversation that he had with another employee was that someone asked him if the lighting had scared him. (Tr. pg. 28). Furthermore, nothing in Claimant's description of the incident at the hearing or in his deposition vaguely resemble the violent incident completely fabricated by Dr. Morrison.

When establishing a critical element such as causation in a workers' compensation case, "recovery . . . must rest upon reasonable probabilities, not upon mere possibilities." *Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision and Travelers Cas. and Sur. Co.*, 856 So.2d 503, 511 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)(citing *Burnley Shirt Corp. v. Simmons*, 204 So.2d 451, 454 (Miss.1967)). With this principle in mind, it is abundantly clear that Dr. Morrison's causation theory is not based on a foundation even as sturdy as possibility. Rather, Dr. Morrison's causal analysis is pure fantasy.

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